

Constitution of The University of Toronto Esports Club

1. Article One – Name and Purpose

- 1.1. The official name of the recognized student group is The University of Toronto Esports Club.
- 1.2. The official acronym or abbreviation of the group is UTES.
- 1.3. The purpose of the organization is to promote esports by creating teams for various esports, and communities around those games.
- 1.4. The UTES will make use of a subgroup structure to allow for management specific to the needs of each esport individually.

2. Article Two – Membership and Membership Fee

- 2.1. The group shall maintain a list of group members.
- 2.2. Voting membership is open to all registered students at the University of Toronto.
- 2.3. Voting membership is open only to registered students at the University of Toronto.
- 2.4. Non-voting membership is open to University of Toronto staff, faculty, alumni, and to persons from outside the University. Unless otherwise stated, non-voting members do not hold any rights awarded to voting members.
- 2.5. There will be no membership fee.

3. Article Three – Rights of Members

- 3.1. All voting members have a right to attend all general meetings of members.
- 3.2. All voting members have a right to cast votes at all general meetings of members.
- 3.3. All voting members have a right to stand for election unless otherwise stated in this document.
- 3.4. All voting members have a right to cast votes in all group elections and referenda.
- 3.5. All voting members have a right to propose and vote on amendments to this constitution.
- 3.6. The rights prescribed in Article Three are not awarded to non-voting members as described in Article Two.

4. Article Four - Executive Committee

- 4.1. The term for all positions on the Executive Committee shall be from May 1st to April 30th.
- 4.2. The Executive Committee shall be composed of five voting members.
- 4.3. All voting members of the Executive Committee must be currently registered students at the University of Toronto.
- 4.4. Non-voting members may hold only non-voting positions on the Executive Committee.
- 4.5. Non-voting members will be appointed by a majority vote of the voting members of the Executive Committee
- 4.6. Persons holding non-voting positions on the Executive Committee cannot serve as an officer, financial authority, signing authority, primary contact, or secondary contact.
- 4.7. No person may serve as a financial authority or signing authority for the group if they are currently serving as a financial authority or signing authority for another recognized student group at the University of Toronto.

5. Article Five - Executive Committee Composition and Duties

5.1. The President shall:

- 5.1.1. Only be available to those who have an academic term of Executive Committee or staff experience under UTES subgroups,
- 5.1.2. Be eligible to cast votes at meetings of the Executive Committee,
- 5.1.3. Oversee the operations, management, and success of the group,
- 5.1.4. Serve as spokesperson for the group,
- 5.1.5. Hold signing and financial authority along with the VP Finance,
- 5.1.6. Preside over meetings of the Executive Committee and/or members,
- 5.1.7. Ensure a transition of office from one year to the next,
- 5.1.8. Coordinate organizational recruitment efforts,
- 5.1.9. Appoint an Interim President in the scenario they will not be present for extended periods of time,
- 5.1.10. Assist each other member of the Executive Committee with their duties.

5.2. The VP Finance shall:

- 5.2.1. Be eligible to cast votes at meetings of the Executive Committee,
- 5.2.2. Record all financial transactions of the group,
- 5.2.3. Hold signing and financial authority along with the President,
- 5.2.4. Maintain a budget of income and expenses,
- 5.2.5. Advise members on financial position of the group,
- 5.2.6. Prepare an annual budget for the group,
- 5.2.7. Coordinate with the VP External to develop an array of monetary support for the club,
- 5.2.8. Lead the development, hiring, and training of the Finance Subcommittee if so desired.

5.3. The VP External shall:

- 5.3.1. Be eligible to cast votes at meetings of the Executive Committee,
- 5.3.2. Ensure activities of the club comply with policies of the University of Toronto,
- 5.3.3. Act as liaison for partnerships and sponsorships to UTES,
- 5.3.4. Be responsible for outreach and responses via email including student affairs,
- 5.3.5. Oversee and aid game communities as liaison between partners and Game Heads, and the corresponding teams and communities,
- 5.3.6. Lead the development, hiring, and training of the External Subcommittee if so desired.

5.4. The VP Production shall:

- 5.4.1. Be eligible to cast votes at meetings of the executive committee,
- 5.4.2. Oversee the livestreams for all of UTES, including graphic overlays, casting, and esports observing,
- 5.4.3. Coordinate with VP Operations on developing a streaming schedule for each corresponding esports,
- 5.4.4. Coordinate with VP Marketing on development of additional graphics or livestream promotional material,
- 5.4.5. Lead the development, hiring, and training of the Production Subcommittee if so desired.

5.5. The VP Marketing shall:

- 5.5.1. Be eligible to cast votes at meetings of the Executive Committee,
- 5.5.2. Be responsible for oversight of graphic designs used by UTES,
- 5.5.3. Be responsible for all social media used by UTES,

- 5.5.4. Oversee organization and development of any additional advertising or campaigning by UTES,
- 5.5.5. Lead the development, hiring, and training of the Marketing Subcommittee and any corresponding roles if so desired.

6. Article Six – Elections

- 6.1. All voting positions on the Executive Committee shall be filled through an annual election.
- 6.2. All voting group members shall be eligible to seek nomination to and cast a ballot for each voting position.
- 6.3. To be officially nominated, a member must receive a nomination from at least 5 current students of the group.
- 6.4. Non-voting group members shall not be eligible to cast a ballot for any elected position.
- 6.5. On the condition that multiple candidates are to be elected for a single position, the nominees winning the largest share of the votes cast shall be deemed the winners until all positions are filled.
- 6.6. The elections must be held in an unbiased manner. No individual who is seeking election may participate in planning or administering the election.
- 6.7. The elections must be held and completed at least ten days before the end of the term described in 4.1.

7. Article Seven – Finances

- 7.1. The Treasurer shall keep an active record of income and expenses.
- 7.2. The Treasurer shall present the group's updates on the group's financial position at annual general meetings.
- 7.3. The Executive Committee must approve all expenditures over \$100.00 through a majority vote at a meeting of the Executive Committee.
- 7.4. The group may not engage in activities that are essentially commercial in nature.
- 7.5. The group will not have as a major activity a function that makes it an on-campus chapter of a commercial organization.
- 7.6. The group will not provide services and goods at a profit when that profit is used for purposes other than those of the group.
- 7.7. The group will not pay salaries to any of its officers.

8. Article Eight – Meetings

- 8.1. The Executive Committee shall meet monthly. The quorum for Executive Committee meetings shall be 50%+1 of the voting members of the Executive Committee.
- 8.2. The group shall hold general meetings at least twice per year to provide the general membership an opportunity to review the group's annual activity plan, financial health, and propose or vote on constitutional amendments.
- 8.3. The Executive Committee must announce the date of a general meeting to the general membership at least two (2) weeks prior to the date of the meeting.

9. Article Nine - Termination of General Membership

- 9.1. The Executive Committee may revoke the membership of any member of the club who commits an act negatively affecting the interests of the club and its members, including non-disclosure of a significant or continuing conflict of interest.
- 9.2. A vote to revoke membership must be held at a meeting of the Executive Committee.
- 9.3. A two-thirds majority of the Executive Committee is required to approve any motion to revoke membership.
- 9.4. Any member facing removal shall have the right to appeal the decision of the Executive Committee to the general membership.
- 9.5. In the case of an appeal, a simple majority vote at a meeting of the general membership shall be required to sustain the revocation of membership.
- 9.6. Following a termination of membership, the member will be removed from the club's membership and will lose any privileges associated with being a member of the club.
- 9.7. Executive Committee members are subject to the same termination of membership process as general members.

10. Article Ten – Amendments

- 10.1. All constitutional amendments shall require a ½ (50%+) majority vote to be passed at a general meeting.
- 10.2. All voting members may propose and vote on amendments to the constitution.
- 10.3. The Executive Committee shall submit the revised constitution to staff in the Division of Student Life at the University of Toronto within two (2) weeks.
- 10.4. Amendments to the constitution shall take effect only once the revised constitution has been approved by staff in the Division of Student Life at the University of Toronto.

11. Article Eleven - Structure

- 11.1. The UTES shall have subgroups corresponding to each esports the group members participate in.
 - 11.1.1. Each of these subgroups will follow all rules of the UTES,
 - 11.1.2. The subgroups are part of the UTES and are not separate groups
 - 11.1.3. Each subgroup shall have a Game Head appointed by the previous Game Head.
- 11.2. The Game Heads shall:
 - 11.2.1. Ensure their subgroup follows all the rules of UTES,
 - 11.2.2. Manage the esports team of their subgroups,
 - 11.2.3. Represent the needs of their subgroup to the Executive Committee,
 - 11.2.4. Communicate with the Operations Manager to incorporate their events as part of UTES
 - 11.2.5. Appoint necessary staff to manage their subgroup.
- 11.3. Each subgroup shall have staff appointed by their respective Game Head to help them manage the subgroup.
 - 11.3.1. Subgroup staff structure, including community guidelines or the need for an executive/administrative team are to be made at the discretion of the Game Head.
 - 11.3.2. The staff may be removed from their role by their Game Head.
- 11.4. Game Heads can be stripped of their benefits including access to sponsorships, budget and official UTES social media via UTES if deemed as not fulfilling their role through majority (>50%) vote by the Executive Committee.
- 11.5. New subgroups can be created by a majority (>50%) vote of the Executive Committee.
 - 11.5.1. New subgroups must have an appointed Game Head.
 - 11.5.2. New subgroups can be removed from UTES by a majority (>50%) vote of the Executive Committee.
- 11.6. Issues within subgroups should first be handled internally by the Game Head and any corresponding staff.
 - 11.6.1. Game Heads or staff are encouraged to hold an amicable discussion to resolve internal conflicts.
 - 11.6.2. Game Heads reserve the right to remove members from their social servers, provided they have clearly committed an act negatively affecting the interests of the club and its members.
 - 11.6.3. Game Heads reserve the right to remove staff from their social servers, provided they have negatively affected the club or have failed to fulfill their duties as a staff member.
 - 11.6.4. Any member who feels wronged by actions by Game Heads or subgroup staff reserves the right to openly approach the Executive Committee about their concerns via the formal complaint process outlined in 12.1.

12. Article Twelve – Conflict Complaint Processes

- 12.1. A Conflict Complaint under UTES continues as follows:
 - 12.1.1. Members should indicate proof that they have attempted to proceed with an amicable agreement with the opposing party before proceeding with a formal Conflict Complaint.
 - 12.1.2. Complainants are provided with the opportunity to provide reasonable rationale and/or proof, in no more than 3 pages, double-spaced, Times New Roman, demonstrating their cause for conflict, concern, and a desired action to be taken.
 - 12.1.3. The Executive Committee will proceed by reviewing the complaint.
 - 12.1.4. The Executive Committee must always consult individuals directly related to the complaint.
 - 12.1.5. If necessary, the Executive Committee will complete an investigation regarding the complaint, consulting with any related parties.
 - 12.1.6. The Executive Committee will hold a vote regarding action they believe to be fit for the situation, including the removal of an individual from a given role, probationary period, or subgroup leadership change.
- 12.2. All members including Game Heads, Staff, and members of the Executive Committee are subject to the Conflict Complaint process.
- 12.3. Members of the Executive Committee are unable to hold a vote for action if a complaint is made against them.
- 12.4. Removal from role (Game Head, Staff, or Executive) via Conflict Complaint does not entail termination of membership.
- 12.5. Executive decisions regarding Conflict Complaints are final.
- 12.6. The Executive Committee holds the right to disregard any formal complaint if deemed like a resolved case.
 - 12.6.1. The Executive Committee may only disregard formal complaints by a majority (>50%) vote.
 - 12.6.2. The Executive Committee must provide reasoning to the complainant as to why their complaint will not be escalated.